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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

WILLIAM BARNHOUSE,
Plaintiff,

)

)

)

)

V. ) CaseNo. 1:19¢v-00958TWP-DLP

)

CITY OF MUNCIE, FONDA KING, )

STEVE STEWART,GORDON WATTERS, )

JOSEPH TODDSTEVE BLEVINS, )

DONALD BAILEY , TERRY WINTERS, )

CARL SOBIERALSKI,AS-YET )

UNIDENTIFIED MUNCIE POLICE OFFICERS,)

andAS-YET UNIDENTIFIED EMPLOYEES OF )

THE INDIANA STATE POLICE CRIME LAB, )
)
)

Defendants.

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS' PARTIAL MOTION TO DISMISS

This matter is before the Court on a Partial Motion to Dismiss filed pursuantiévafFe
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) bpefendants City of Muncie, Fonda King, Steve Stewart,
Gordon Watters, Joseph Todd, Steve Blevins, Donald Bailey, and Terry Winters (oeljecti
"Muncie Defendant$ (Filing No. 7§. Plaintiff William Barnhouse"Barnhouse) initiated this
actionon March 7, 2019 against tMuncieDefendants, as well atate defendar@arl Sobieralski
and unidentified emplaes of the Indiana State Police Crime Lalrsuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
Barnhouse seek® redress the deprivation of his constitutional rights after he was exonerated
through DNA evidence of a wrongful conviction and imprisonment for rdpehis Amened
Complaint,he assertfourteen separate clainfigr, among other things, due process violations
(Filing No. 73. The MuncieDefendants ask the Court to dismis®lve d the claimsbrought n
the AmendedComplaint. For the following reasons, the Cograants in part and denies in part

the Partial Motion to Dismiss.
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.  BACKGROUND

The following facts are not necessarily objectively true, but as required eviewing a
motion to dismiss, the Court accepts as true all factual allegations in the complaird\asclti
inferences in favor of Barnhouse as the-nmwving party. See Belanski v. County of Kan&50
F.3d 632, 633 (7th Cir. 2008).

Plaintiff William Barnhousevas wrongly convicted of a 1992 rape of which he was totally

innocent. FEiling No. 73 at 1.)Helost twentyfive years of his life unjustly imprisoned before he

was exonerated through DNA evidenice.When he filed the instadimended Complaindn July
30, 2019, Barnhouse was 62 years. oBarnhouséhas struggled his entire life with cognitive
deficiencies and mental illnessHis 1.Q. is significantly below average, qualifying him for a
clinical diagnosis of mental retardatidis mentalillness conditionis most often diagnosed as
paranoid schizophreniaBarnhouse's conditioned to him being repeatedly committed to
psychiatric hospitals in the years leading up to 19@rnhousealsowas born with Klinefeltés
Syndrome, a chromosomal condition that results in two or more X chromosomes in Triades.
primary feature of Klinadlters Syndrome is the inability to produce sperioh.at 78.

Defendant City of Muncie is an Indiana municipalitpefendants Fonda King Qfficer
King"), Steve Stewart"Qfficer Stewart), Gordon Watters"Qfficer Watter$), Joseph Todd
("Officer Todd), Steve Blevins"Officer Blevins'), Donald Bailey'(Sergeant Bailey, and Terry
Winters (Sergeant Wintel'$, were police officers in the Muncie Police Departmebefendant
Carl Sobieralsk("Sobieralski’) was aforensic scientisin the Indiana StatPolice Crime Labld.

at 4-5.
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On April 21, 1992, P.L. left her Muncie home in the early morning to buy cigarettes at a
nearby store.While on her way to the store, a man riding a black bicycle approached her and
pulled out a knife.The manthreatened to kill P.L. if she did not go with hirhle put his arm
around her and walkdterdown an alley to a vacant buildinghere were no gjhts in the vacant
building. The managainthreatened P.L. with a knife and vaginalgped her twice.He then
forced her to perform oral sex on hand then vaginallyaped heagain P.L. felt theperpetrator
ejaculate. P.L. complied when the man told her to get dressksl.she walked away from the
scene, the man began circling her with his bicydie followed her on his bicycle for a few
minutes, and then he rode away back toward the crime stbrag.5-6.

P.L. ran toastore and told a stordeck that she had been raped store employee called
the police. P.L. did not clean herself while she waited for policartove. Officer King arrived,
interviewed P.L., and took a description of thaeker Shedescribedher attackeas awhite
male, slim,possiblyshorter than 9", with shouldedength dark brown hainyith an underbie,
wearing lightcolored jeans and a gray sweatslartd riding a black bicycle with handlebars that
bent forward.lId. at 6. Officer King issued dBe Onthe Lookout ("BOL") natice over the radio;
howeverthedescription of the attacker provided over the radio differed from the description P.L
provided to Officer King.Officer King described the attacker as having a mustache, b@ihgr5
5'10", and the handlebars on the bicycle curving back toward the hitlext. 7.

Soon after hearing the BOL, Officers Todd, Stewart, Blevins, and Watters stopped
Barnhouse.At least one of the officers had arresgamrnhouseon prior occasions Barnhouse
was known to some of the officers and those offickreew about Barnhouse cognitive

deficiencies andnental illness.Because of their previous familiarity with Barnhouse, they also
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knew that he could not produce sperm because of his KlinefetymdromeFiling No. 73 at #

8).

When the rape occurred, Barnhouse was miles away and on his way home from a party at
Ball State University. Barnhouse had never met P.L. and did not know [@ificers Todd,
Stewart, Blevins, and Watteksew that Barnhouse did not match the description of the attacker
relayed on the BOL; Barnhouse was wearing a blatkrt, a blue jacket, and blue jeans, he did
not have a mustache, and he was abdtitahd 200pounds. Even though they did not observe
Barnhouse committing any crimes, anesgite their familiarity with Barnhou'sementaland
physical conditions, Officers Todd, Stewart, Blevins, and WatteestedBarnhouse.ld.

Once the officers detained Barnhouse, Officer Steradrbed Officer Kingo tell her that
he had stopped a persaho fit the description of thattacker Officer King agreed to driv®.L.
to the location wher@©fficer Stewart stopped Barnhous@n theway there Officer King told
P.L. that police had stopped a person who matched her descripttithve attacker, which was
unduly suggestive and primélL. to falsely identifyBarnhouse.When Officer King and P.L.
arrived at the location where Barnhouse had stepped Officers Todd, Stewart, Blevins, and
Watters placed Barnhouse in the middle of them and in front of skyesd cars, and they shined
flashlights in Barnhouse face. Officer King sat in the car with P.L. and indicated to her that
Barnhaise was her attackeP.L. then falsely identified Barnhouse as the man who rapedNioer.
police"line-up™ with Barnhouse was ever conductéd. at 8-9.

The officers arrested Barnhouse based solely orisRdentification.They transported
Barnhouse to the policgation to be processed and interrogated, and he was strip searched at the
station. While being interrogated by the polifacluding Sergeants Bailey and Winters

Barnhouse truthfully denied any involvement in the rabies repeéed requests for an attorney


https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317406906?page=7
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were denied. The police officers took advantage of Barnfousental illness and cognitive
deficiencies byfabricating that he spontaneously confessed to tha&otording to the officers,
Barnhouse spontaneously offered thkofeing false statementst the police statiar’hed just
been partyingvith a girl namedTric;" all he did was kiss her; he shouldrarry a knife; and he
didnt pull a knife on anybody. Id. at 3-10. This "confessiontvas fabricated by the police
officers. Barnhouse never confessed or gave any information about the crime to anyone at any
time because he knew nothing about the crime and had nothing to do Witvever, the officers
memorializedhefalse and fabricated inculpatory statement in a fabricated police rigpait10.
Barnhouse pleads in the alternative tiiet lice officers took advantage ohis mental
and intellectual disabilitiesand continuedto interrogate him about his knowledge of and
involvement in the rape of P.LBarnhouse requesteah attorney, but the police officers ignored
his request and continued to questimm. Barnhouseontinued to deny any involvement in or
knowledge of the ape. But with knowledge ofBarnhousea' limited mental andntellectual
capacity the plice officers continued tgressureBarnhouse to provide details of the rafée
officers providedBarnhouse withdctsabout therape that wer&nown only by them andP.L.
Theypersisted in questioningarnhousealespite hisssertion of his right to counsel and denial of
having anything to do with the rape of P.lEventually, Barnhousprovided an inculpatory
statement that he had onlkissed and 'playedaround"with P.L., but he did not rape heiThe
police officers knew thatBarnhousea' statemenivasinvoluntary and unreliableBarnhouse did
not provide any information about thege that wasotalreadyknown to theofficers The officers
did not make angttempt to prepara statement foBarnhouseand they did noattempt to have
him sign a statement or confessidduring the interrogation,the plice officers recognized

Barnhouse obvious cognitive deficiencies amental illnessbut ather than taksteps to ensure
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Barnhouse was truly and freely agreeingtmfessthe officerstook advantage of hisondition
and continued their interrogation in a manmmgended to forcdBarnhousedo falsely implicate
himself in thecrime. Id. at 16-12.

Soon after Barnhouse was arrestdticers transporte®.L. to the hospital where a sexual
assault kit and her jeans warellected. Sperm was collected from P4 vaginal anctervical
swabs and seminal fluid was collected from the insioleher jeans. Serology testing was
performed by the Indiana State Crime Lab on the swabs, and the results were inagnclus
meaning Barnhouse could not be included or excluded based serthegy testingFiling No.
73at13.

With the inconclusive serology results and at least some of the police officevdedge
that Barnhouse could not produce sperm, the police officers needed more evidence tudaisely
the crime on BarnhouseThey turned to Sobieralski, a forensic hair examiner fromrttiena
State Crime Lab Sobieralski conducted a microscogiair analysis ofP.L.'s pubic hair and
Barnhouse pubichair. His report concluded that one hair frd?l.'s pubic hair combing was
"sufficiently similaf' to Barnhouse'pubic hair standard such that he could not tell the difference
between the two ha. He also reported that one hair wéesxactly liké' and 'matched
Barnhouse's pubic hair standaitd. at 12-13.

Sobieralsks report was false and contrary the accepted practices in the field of hair
analysis at théime. In particular, it wasagainst the accepted science atttivee to assert that
microscopic hair comparison could producaratch’ between two hairs Additionally, the use
of hair comparison for individualizatioalsowas against acceptetience at the timeAt that

time, har microscopy could not uniquely identify one personh&ssource of a haiSobieralski
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knew of the forensic problemgth his analysis but withheld this information from ir@secution
and Barnhouse's defense counsel.at 13.

The police officers craeda series of false and fraudulent police and foremgiorts and
related memoranda, fabricated eviden@ecluding a fabricated confessign used unduly
suggestivewitnessidentification procedures, and manufactured witness statenvemtd) they
inseted into their case fileThis evidenceutilized to show Barnhouse purported connection to
the crime, contained statements atescribed events that tipelice officers knew to be false.
They prepared and signed off on these reports, bothvastigators and as supervisors, despite
their knowledge thahe information in the reports was fals&t the same timethepolice officers
withheld from the prosecution argarnhousa' defensecounselevidence that would exculpate
Barnhouse, includingvidence of their suggestive witnédentification procedures, their coercive
tactics, andexculpatory police and forensic reports and witness statements. 14.

Barnhouse alleges,

Defendantsmisconduct includes that of ttepervisors, who knew Huwell of

Defendantsmisconduct andheir fabrication of a case against Mr. Barnhouse.

Thesesupervisors nevertheless intentionally ignored and apprdefdndants'

misconduct, and decided to make Mr. Barnhaasponsible for a crime he did not

commit,rather than directing the officers and forensic emploiegs out and find

the person who had raped P.L.

Id. at 14-15. Furthermore,"Defendants concealed the misconduct described above from Mr.
Barnhouse and his criminal defense attorriegiad, ‘[d]ue to the false evidence procured by
Defendants, Mr. Barnhouse was charged with rape and criminal deviant conduat.15.

At trial, the false evidencihat had beedevelopedvas used against Barnhoud@uring

the closingargument, the prosecution told the jury that the fabricated'hmgitch’ was a'silent

witness$ against BarnhouseAfter just two days of trial and based tre fabricated evidence,

Barnhouse was wrongfully convicted rape and criminal deviate condu¢ie was sentenced to
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eighty years in prison Absent the misconducf the DefendantsBarnhouse woulthavenever

been prosecuted for or convicted of rapkhg. (Filing No. 73 at 1»

Barnhousenever gaveup on maintaining his innocence. He was involved in post
conviction litigation for two decadedeginning in 1993 with a direct appeal followed by
subsequent posonviction petitions and appeal8arnhousealso begargathering information
that he was nahe onlyvictim of fabricated forensic evidené®m the Muncie Defendantdd.
at 15-16.

TheFederal Bureau of InvestigatiodB1") announced in 2013 that testimony that a crime
scene hailis a"match' to a particular defenddsthair throughmicroscojfc hair comparison
implies a level of certainty thaxceeds the limits of scienc&éhe FBI announced that hair
microscopyis limited in that hairs cannot be individualized, and theizle pool of people who
could be included as a possible sowta specific hair is unknown. Then in April 2015, the FBI
acknowledged that nearly every examiner in its microscopicbaiparison unit gave flawed and
exaggerated testimony in mdhan 95% of the trials reviewed in a tlecade period befo&9000.
Many individuals who were convicted based on flaweitroscopic hair comparison have had
their convictionoverturned through DNA testing. The FBI reported that of thec8&0ictions in
the country overturned through DNA testing, laast seventyour involved the same false
microscopic hair analysis usedBarnhousa case.ld. at 16-17.

With the FBIs renouncement ofnicroscopic hair analysis as fundamentally flawed,
Barnhousewith the consent of the Delaware County Prose&u@ffice,filed a mdion for post
conviction DNA testing oP.L.'s sexual assault kit and jeamsJanuary 2016 Bode Cellmark

Forensics in Virginia conducted the DNésting and obtained a single male DNA profile from
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thevaginal swab extracts and jearBBarnhouse gave sliva sample.The DNA testing excluded
Barnhouseas the source of the DNA collected from taginal swab and jean$d. at 17.

On March 1, 2017, Barnhouse and ®ateof Indianafiled a joint motion to vacate
Barnhouse convictions. One week laterpn March 8, 2017 he Delaware Circuit Court granted
the joint motion. Shortly thereafter, the Staté Indianamowvedto dismiss the caseOn May 10,
2017, afteBarnhouse had spent more than twefitg years in prison, the court grantbe Stat&s
motion and Barnhouseas seffree. Id.

On March 7, 2019, Barnhouse fila€Complaint againghe City of Muncie, Officer King,
Officer Stewart, Officer Watters, Officer Todd, Officer Blevins, SergeRailey, Sergeant
Winters, Sobieralski, Unidentified Muncie Police Officers, and UnidentifisxplByees of the
Indiana State Police Crime Lalilfng No. 1). Then onJuly 30, 2019, Barnhouse fildtie
Amended Complaint against these same Defendants, aaldadylitional claim Eiling No. 73.

On August 27, 2019, the City of Muncie, Officers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins, and
Sergeants Bailey and Winters filéde instantPartial Motion to Dismissasking the Court to
dismissall of the claims except the Section 1983 claims for a coerced and false conéegkion
conspiracy to deprive constitutional righ&slihg No. 78.

II. LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) allows a defendant to move to dismisplaicdom
that has failed tbstate a claim upon which relief can be graritdeed. R. Civ. P12(b)(6). When
deciding a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Couepas@s true all factual allegations
in the complaint and draws all inferences in favor of the plaifi#flanskj 550 F.3d at 633
However, courtSare not obliged to accept as true legal conclusions or unsupported conclusions

of fact." Hickey v. CBanron, 287 F.3d 656, 658 (7th Cir. 2002).
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The complaint must contain"ahort and plain statement of the claim showing that the
pleader is entitled to reliéf.Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)in Bell Atlantic Corp. v. TwombjyheUnited
StatesSupreme Court explaed that the complaint must allege facts that"areugh to raise a
right to relief above the speculative leteb50 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). Althougti€tailed factual
allegations are not required, merdabels; "conclusions,"or "formulaic recitatiofs] of the
elements of a cause of actiare insufficient.ld.; see alsdBissessur v. Ind. Univ. Bd. of Tr§81
F.3d 599, 603 (7tkZir. 2009) (it is not enough to give a threadbare recitation of the elements of
a claim without factual suppdit The allegations musgive the defendant fair notice of what the
... claim is and the grounds upon which it résiBvombly 550 U.S. at 555Stated differently,
the complaint must includ&enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausibldsoface’
Hecker v. Deere & Cp556 F.3d 575, 580 (7th Cir. 2009) (citation and quotation marks omitted).
To be faciallyplausible the complaint must allowthe court to draw the reasonable inference that
the defendant is liable for the misconduct altegeAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 556).

.  DISCUSSION

The Amended Complaint alleges fourteen clai@munt I-42 U.S.C. § 1983 Due Process:
Fabrication of Evidence Against Individual Defendaftsunt [I-42 U.S.C. § 1983 Due Process:
Brady Violations Against Individual Defendan@ount 111-42 U.S.C. § 1983 Coerced and False
Confession Against Individual Police Officer Defendaftsunt IV—42 U.S.C. § 1983 Violation
of Procedural Due Process Against IndividDatfendantsCountV —42 U.S.C. § 1983 Liberty
Deprivation Absent Probable Cause Against Individual Defendaotst VI-42 U.S.C. § 1983
Conspiracy to Deprive Constitutional Rights Against Individual Defend&uasint VII — 42

U.S.C. § 1983 Failure tmtervene Against Individual Defendan@ount VIII-42 U.S.C. § 1983

10
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Municipal Liability Against Defendant City of Mungi€ount IX- 29 U.S.C. § 794 Section 504
of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 Against Defendant City of MunCieunt X —State LawClaim
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress Against Individual Defenda@tsunt XI— State Law
Claim Malicious Prosecution Against Individual Defendar@sunt Xl — State Law Claim
Respondeat Superior Against Defendant City of MunCieunt Xl — State Law Claim Civil
Conspiracy Against Individual Defendants; and Count XI8tate Law Claim Indemnification
Against Defendant City of Muncidn their Partial Motion to Dismisshe MuncieDefendants ask
the Court to dismiss twelve of the fourteen claims brought in the Amended Complan€Court
will address each of the claims as presented biyltecie Defendants in their Motion.

A. Count I: Fabrication of Evidence — King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins

The MuncieDefendants argue the Section 1983 fabrication of evidence claim against
Officers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins should be dismissed becaakeghatonsn
the Amended Complaint do not show that these defendants had any personal involvement in the
fabrication of evidenceRather, the allegations indicate that Sergeants Bailey and Winters were
involved in interrogating Barnhouse at the police stat®arnhouseruthfully denied knowledge
of or involvement in the rape, but the police fabricated spontaneous incriminatergents.The
Muncie Defendants argue the pleadings do not include Officers King, Stewart, Wattersanadd,
Blevins in this fabrication of evidenceRather, Barnhouse asserts only conclusory statements
about these five defendants that are insuffidierstate a claim.

They asserBection 1983iability is imposed on an officidlwho subjects, or causes to be
subjected, any . .person . . to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by
the Constitution and laws.Whitlock v. Brueggemanr682 F.3d 567, 582 (7th Cir. 2012)

Individual liability under Section 1983 requires that the public official defendant wesnady

11
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involved in the alleged constitutional deprivati@ulbert v. City of Chicaga851 F.3d 649, 657

(7th Cir. 2017).Because Officers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins are not alleged to
have been personally involved in this fabrication of evidence, this claim musisskd as to
them.

Barnhouse responds that he has pled a viable Section 1983 claim for violation of his
Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair tri@nd his legal theory thahé Muncie Defendants
fabricatedevidencesupports his claimBarnhouse argudss allegation thathe police defendants
fabricated a confession made by Bawuse even though Barnhouse made no such conféssion
sufficient These officerstook advantage of his mental and intellectual deficiencies during
interrogations, and then used their fabricated evidence against Barnhouse durioglapaive
him of afair trial and of his liberty A fabrication of evidence claim under Section 1983 is
cognizable if the falsely manufactured evideficelater used to deprive the defendant of her
liberty in some way."Whitlock 682 F.3dat 580. Barnhouse argues he hakequately pled this.

Barnhouse further asserts that Mencie Defendantsargumenis unavailing concerning
a lack of personal involvement in the interrogation at the police station by Offioey, Stewart,
Watters, Todd, and BlevinsBarnhouse alleged that he was interrogated by one or more of the
"Police Defendants and all of them took advantage of his mental and cognitive limitations by
fabricating inculpatory statemen®arnhouse specifies individual defendaatsions where he
currently possess such information, and other paragraphs in his Amended Complaint allege
misconduct committed by limited and defined subsets of defendants, such &Botive
Defendants. Barnhouse argues that, under Seventh Circuit law, an allegagbicitly directed
at all or a particular subgroup of defendants is sufficient to plead personal meaolveven if

each defendant comprising the group is not named individually in each separate pa&egaph.

12
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Brooks v. Ros$78 F.3d 574, 582 (7th CR009);Burks v. Raemis¢tb55 F.3d 592, 594 (7th Cir.
2009). Barnhouse argues has named theoliceofficers involved in the investigation, described
the misconduct used to secure his wrongful conviction, and alleged th&adiee Defendants
collecively committed that misconductWithout discovery, it is not reasonable to expect, nor
does the law require, Barnhousedentify every specific action eapblice defendant took.

The Muncie Defendants replyhat Barnhouse is incorrect about his theoicollective
responsibility of the'Police Defendantsbecause a defendant must be put on notice of the scope
of the claims againgtim. SeeBank of Am N.A. v. Knight 725 F.3d 815, 818 (7th Cir. 2013).
The MuncieDefendants assert tHaarnhouse'argument fails because he specifically allehas
it was Sergeants Bailey and Winters who wies®lved in the alleged fabrication elidence.
Barnhousalleges that he was interrogated3srgeants Bailegnd Winters, where he truthfully
denied any involvement in the rape and t@quests for aattorney were deniedlhen Barnhouse
alleges thatPolice Defendantsfabricateda confession.The MuncieDefendants argue thaty b
the very nature of namingergeantsBailey and Winters separatelywith respect to their
involvement in the interrogation, subsequent allegattomeerning statements made or allegedly
not made during the interrogati@me logically read twefer to Sergeant8ailey and Winters
Barnhouse'genericcategorical allegabhs cannot savis claim againgDfficers King, Stewart,
Watters, Todd, and Blevins.

Reviewing the 38 page Amended Complaint in its entirety reveals that the pleadings base
the fabrication of evidence claim on the interrogation, false confession, and ppbces & that
false confession.The pleadings allege that Barnhouse was interrogétgene or more of the
Police Defendants, including Defendant Sergeants Donald Bailey and Terry Wigiteirsy No.

73 at 10) Then the Amended Complaint alleges tR®lice Defendantsfabricated a confession

13
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and memorializedBarnhousea false and fabricated inculpatory statement in a fabricated police
report.

The Seventh Circuit recently has explained,

A contention that'the defendants looted the corporatierwithout any details

about who did whatis inadequate. Liability is personal. An allegation that

someondooted a corporation does not propound a plausibléeotion thata

particular persordid anything wrong. The Rules of Civil Procedure set up a system

of notice pleading. Each defendant is entitled to know what he or she did that is

asserted to be wrongful. A complaint based on a theory of collective rdspiyns

must be dismissed. That is true even for allegations of conspiracy.

Bank of Am.725 F.3cat 818 (emphasis in original).

The Amended Complaint fails to provide notice to Officers King, Stewart, Wattedsl,
and Blevinsof any wrongful conduct &y allegedly committed pertaining to the fabrication of
evidence Alleging collective responsibility of thd?olice Defendantds not sufficient to maintain
the fabrication of evidence claim agai@fficers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Bleyins
especially where Barnhouse has alleged that SergBailesy and Wintergarticipated in the
wrongful conduct under this claimTherefore, the Cougdrants the Muncie Defendantdlotion

to Dismiss Count | as tOfficers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins.

B. Count |I: Withholding or Concealing Evidence— Police Officer Defendants

Next, theMuncie Defendants argue that Count Il should be dismissed as to each of the
police officer defendants because the pleadings establish that exculpatoryceweksnot
withheld or concealed. BarnhotséBrady claim® is based upomvithholding and suppressing
exculpatoryevidenceof the Defendants "suggestive witness identification procedures, their
coercive tactics, and exculpatory police and forensic reports and witnessestiateffiling No.
73 at 14) However, theMuncie Defendants argue the pleadings show that this evidence was not

concealed from Barnhouse because he was présgng the witness identification procedaired

14
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his interrogation Relying on public records, thduncie Defendants also argue that Barnhouse
moved to dismiss the evidence of witness identification during his gra@eedingsfurther
showing that this evidence was not withheld from him.

The Muncie Defendants point out thahe Brady rule applies in situations wehe
information is discovered after trial thaas known to the prosecutor but unknown to the defense.
United Satesv. Agurs 427 U.S. 97, 1031976). [E]vidence cannot be said to have been
suppressed in violation d@rady if it was already known to the defenddn@very v. City of
Milwaukee 847 F.3d 433, 443 (7th Cir. 201 Hurthemore Bradycannot serve as the basis of a
cause of actiongainst police officers for failing to discloge a prosecutothe circumstances
surrounding a coerced confessid@ornberger v. City of Knoxville, 1JI434 F.3d 1006, 1029 (7th
Cir. 2006). The Muncie Defendants argue elsauseBarnhousewas present during the
identification, all the facts and circumstances of the identification alreahe known to
Barnhouse, thereby precludin@eady claim.

The MuncieDefendants additionally argue that qualified immunity protects them against
liability for theBradyclaimasserted in the Amended Complaifbhey argue that a duty to disclose
the circumstances of the identification procedures was not clearly estdldistiee time of the
incident. The MuncieDefendants assert thaye"unaware of any dedan by the Seventh Circuit
or any of the other Circuits that would have clearly established such an obligatiomBtaatign
1992 to disclose the facts and circumstances of an identification procedure(bsed. No. 79
at 12)

Barnhouse responds that Bisady claim is based upon the use of unduly suggestive and
coercive tactics to procure a false identification of him, but those tacéos mot disclosed.

Barnhouse agrees that dencethat wasalready known to him cannot supporBeady claim;
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however, theMuncie Defendantsview of the allegations is too narrow. The allegations are not
limited only to the identification procedures used when Barnhouse was placed in franpolice
officers without any protections against unduly suggestive tactics. The allegasonadide

unduly suggestive statements made by Officer King to P.L. when they were driving to the scene
of the arrest as well as statements made by Officer King to P.L. whenéhesitting in the police

car at the scene. These facts were not disclosed kaawn by Barnhouse before or during his
trial. The withholding of the circumstances of FsLidentification of Barnhouse preventeuin

from being able to prove that the key evidence against him was false.

Concerning qualified immunity, Barnhouse argues that, in 1992, it was clearly established
thatidentification procedures violate due process if they are unduly suggeseedanson v.
Brathwaite 432 U.S. 98 (1977Neil v. Biggers409 U.S. 188 (1972B8immons v. United States
390 U.S. 377, 384 (1968)andsuppressing exculpatory evidensainconstitutionaNewsome v.
McCabe 256 F.3d 747, 7553 (7th Cir. 2001)it was clearly established in 1979 and 1980 that
police @amot withhold exculpatory information from prosecujpisee also Hampton v. Cityf o
Chicagq 2017 WL 2985743, at *29 (N.D. Ill. July 13, 2017) (denying qualified immunity to
officers for withholding use of manipulative tactics during identification in 198hus,
Barnhouse argueshdé Muncie Defendants had sufficient notice that theictions violated
Barnhouse constitutional rights, so they are not entitled to qualified immunity

In reply, theMuncie Defendants argue that Barnhouse filed a motion to suppress the
identification evidence, and during the hearing on that motion, Barnhouse had the opportunity to
crossexamine Officer King about any conversations she had with P.L., but he failed to do so, and
he failed to examine P.L. about conversations she had with Officer King. Therb&yricie

Defendants argue, Barnhouse had opportunities to discover any conversations between Office
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King and P.L., and this evidence was not withheld or concealed. Furthermore, as tedqualif
immunity, the Muncie Defendants repeat that there was no clearly established right to the
disclosure of identification procedures at the time of the incident.

As required when reviewing a motion to dismiss, the Court accepts the pleadings as true
and draws all inferences in favor of Barnhouse as themmning party.Bielanskj 550 F.3d at
633. The Court concludes that the allegations show Barnhouse was aware of any evidence
obtained through his interrogation since he was present at his own interrogation, and further, he
was aware of the identification procedures used when he was placed iof fitoe police officers
and identified by P.L.Therefore, this evidence was not withheld from Barnhouse and cannot
support eBradyclaim.

However, Barnhouse further pled that unduly suggestive tactics were used by Offger K
when she was in the police car with P.L., and this evidence was not known to Barrivbiise.
Barnhouse acknowledges thdhe Court could take judicial notice of . the fact that Plaintiff

filed a motion to suppress P4 false identification of higi (Filing No. 81 at 161.1), that motion

to suppress was not based on Officer Kerayggestive statements to PdedFiling No. 7910).

While theMuncieDefendants argue that Barnhouse could have discovered this evidence -on cross
examination, at this stage of the litigation, the Court accepts Barnbalisgations as being
sufficient to support 8rady claim against Officer King for withholding evidence about unduly
suggestive identification tacticBut the allegations do not suppoBeadyclaim against the other
police officer defendants because the other evidénite which these other officemllegedly

were involved was not withheld from Barnhousé&nd Barnhouss allegation thatexculpatory

police and forensic reports and witness staterhewtse withheld is insufficiently pled in

conclusory fashion.
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As to qualified immunityfor Officer King against th&rady claim, the Seventh Circuit
asked, vas it clearly established in 1979 and 1980 that police could not withhold from prosecutors
exculpatory information about fingerprints and the conduct of a lineup? The answer"is yes.
Newsome 256 F.3dat 752 (nternal citations omitted The Court is not persuaded by the
Defendantsdistinction ofNewsomdasedon the language dfingerprintsandthe conduct of a
lineup.”As noted inNewsomgit wasclearly establishetiefore 1992hatpolice @annot withhold
from prosecutorgxculpatory information about a lineufphe Court concludes that Officer King
had sufficient notice that her actions violated Barnhsusenstitutional rightsso she is not
entitled to qualified immunity as to tieradyclaim.

The Courtgrants the Motion to Dismiss Count Il of the Amended Complaint against
Officer Stewart, Officer Watters, Officer Todd, Officer Blevins, Sergézailey, and Sergeant
Winters, lut deniesthe Motion to Dismiss Count Il agair@fficer King.

C. Count IV: Procedural Due Process- Police Officer Defendants

The Muncie Defendants argue that Count IV of the Amended Complaint (violating
procedural due process rights guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendhmrtbe dismissed
because, as alleged, the claim is not cognizable under Section 1983, and qualifiedyimmunit
protects the police officer defendants.

In Count IV, Barnhouse allegéfefendantdalsely accused Plaintiff of criminal actiyi
and caused Plaintiff to be improperly subjected to criminal prosecution for Wieoh was no
probable cause. Criminal prosecution was commenced and continued maliciouslyEiling.

No. 73 at 26 "Thus, Defendants violated Plaintffight to procedural due process guaranteed by
the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitutituh.”

The Defendants explain,
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Defendants recognize that the Seventh Circultiran v. Hannauhorized claims
against Indiana police officers under Section 1983 for malicious prosecution.
Julian, 732 F.3d 842, 847 (7th Cir. 2013). Malicious prosecution claims, however,
are wholly inconsistent with the Fourth Amendn'®ribjectivereasonableness
stardard and are duplicative of pteal Fourth Amendment claims, and make little
sense in the context of due process, which already protects criminal defendants
constitutional right to a fair triaSee Manuel v. City of Joliet, [l137 S. Ct. 911,
924-26(2017) Manuel ) (Alito, J., dissenting). Defendants recognize the binding
effect ofJulian, but wish to preserve this issue for appeal.

(Filing No. 79 at 13

The Muncie Defendantargue that the police officer defendants are entitled to qualified
immunity becausé was not clearly established 1992that a due process right exists to be free
from prosecution with malice or without probable cauleelaw applicable ta Section 183
malicious prosecution claim has never been clearly defifteel. MuncieDefendants assert that
the law as it stands todagloes not clearly establish the right to be free from prosecution without
probable cause&see Manuel v. City of Joliet, 1903 F.3d 667, 670 (7th Cir. 2018)ignuel II).

The Seventh Circuit explained Manuel llthat"[t]here is no such thing as a constitutional right
not to be prosecuted without probable cdulkk.The MuncieDefendants argue that, becatise
current law does not clearly establish such a right, it follows that this right dikisbaed was
not clearly established in 1992.

Additionally, theMuncie Defendants contend, was not until the Seventh Circsit2Q.3
opinionin Julian v. Hanndhat it was established in thiscuit that police officers in Indiana could
beliable for malicious prosecution under Section 1988e Julian732 F.3d at 847. Prior tihe
Julian decision a police officer in Indiana couldot be subjected to a claim for malicious
prosecution under Section 19&8e id, and even the circuit precedent upon which the Seventh
Circuit relied inJulianwas issuedfterthe prosecution dBarnhouseSee idat 845.At the time

of Barnhouse'sorviction, the Seventh Circultad expressed uncertainty that a rigbtbe free
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from malicious prosecutioeven existed and statetivhether or not the right to be free from
prosecution without probable cause exists, it does not appear to beestalished soqualified
immunity would protect the defendainbm such a claim Kompare v. Stein801 F.2d 883, 891

n.9 (7th Cir. 1986).The Muncie Defendants argue the police officer defendants are entitled to
gualified immunity on Count IV.

Barnhouseresponds that he has adequately pled a Section 1983 malicious prosecution
claim underJulian, and theMuncie Defendants have admitted that such a claim exists, only
arguing such a claim is not cognizable to preserve the argument for appeal. @Qgnpedified
immunity, Barnhouse asserts that #ralysis turns on whether particular conduct was a clearly
established constitutional violation at a particular point in time, not whether a [zartique of
tort or remedy for that conduct was available at the thredds v. Wharrie 740 F.3d 1107, 1114
(7th Cir. 2014)"when the question is whether to grant immunity to a public employee, the focus
is on his conduct, not on whether that conduct gave rise to a tort in a particular Basahouse
argues that the Court must consitdethether the fabrication of evidence alleged in Plaistiff
amended complaint makes out a clearly established constitutional violation! fa wdasons
explained above, it does. Whether other victims of the same miscondeledldbeir claims as
'malicious prosecutidrelaims or used some other nomenclature is of no mgoi@mtng No. 81
at 39, and qualified immunity should not apply.

A review of the Amended Complaishowsthat Barnhouse has adequately pled a claim
underJulian. He sufficiently pled that he was improperly prosecuted without probable cause and
maliciously prosecuted, and Indiana does not provide an adequate state daly. However, the
Court agrees with théMuncie Defendants concerning qualified immunity. There is no

"constitutional right not to be prosecuted without probable ¢aiMauelll, 903 F.3cat 670 and
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Barnhouse argument concerning fabrication of evidegeanot defeat qualified immunity for
this separate claim for malicious prosecution and prosecution without probable caugelicEhe
officer defendants in this case were not on fair notice in 1992 that their conductdveotdearly
established constitutional right that would give rise dalaan claim. Therefore, the police officer
defendants are entitled to qualified immunity against Count IV of the Amended Complant
Motion to Dismiss igjranted as to Count IV on the basis of qualified immunity.

D. Count V: Liberty Deprivation without Probable Cause — Police Officer Defendants

In Count V of the Amended Complaint, Barnhouse alleges"that Defendants caused
Plaintiff to be detained and imprisoned without probable cause. Plaintifheaserated prior to

trial, and his incarceration continued until his eventual release 25 years(laterg No. 73 at

217))
The MuncieDefendants argue that this claim is tHveerreld because, in Indiana,Section
1983 claim has a twgear statute of limitation®ehavioral Institute of Ind., LLC v. City of Hobart
Common Council406 F.3d 926, 929 (7th Cir. 2005). TMencie Defendants contend that if the
claim is characterized adase arrest claim under the Fourth Amendment, it is untimely because
a false arrest claim begins to accrue at the point of issuance of proceagjonzentSee Wallace
v. Katg 549 U.S. 384, 390 (2007). Barnhouse was arraigned on April 23, 1992uarahifalse
arrest claim under the Fourth Amendment expired on April 23, 1994, making the claim untimely.
If the claim is characterized as a deprivation of liberty as applied to the timeedietdier
the legal process commenced, Mancie Defendants gain argue such a claim is tirbarred
because g@stlegal process preial detentiomalsois governed by the Fourth Amendmelanuel

I, 137 S. Ct. at 919'[O]nce a trial has occurred, the Fourth Amendment drops out: A person
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challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support both a conviction and any ensuing
incarceration does so under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Améndna¢820 n.8.

The Muncie Defendants argue th@&arnhouse'sclaim for liberty deprivation without
probable cause concerns the time period after legal process began until hisargrand as such,
the twoyear statute of limitations expired on December 15, 1994, which is two years afte
Barnhouse conviction, which ended his seizure under the Fourth AmendmkatMuncie
Defendants assethat the Seventh Circulteld inManuel Il that a claim fordetention without
probable cause accrued whbe plaintiff was released from custgdyut in that case, the plaifiti
was not convicted and, thus,distinguishable from this cagddanuel 1, 903 F.3d at 669.

The MuncieDefendants further argue that probable cause existed to believe that Barnhouse
had raped P.L. They assert that police officers are entitled to relwi@tim's identification of a
perpetrator in making a probable cause determination. They argue that P.L. identifileduBar
as her attacker, and the police had no reason to believe she identified him becaals® arra
grudge. They could rely on[P's identification, which established probable cause, which in turn
destroys Barnhousetlaim for pretrial detention without probable cause.

Additionally, theMuncie Defendants argue, the police officer defendamésentitled to
gualified immunity because it was not clearly established that a right ied&om pretrial
detention withoutprobable cause existed until the Supreme Court recognized such anright
Manuel I Thus at the time oBarnhousepre-trial detention in 1992, it was not clearly established
thatBarnhouse had a right to be free from pre-trial detention without probable cause.

Barnhouse responds that his claim accrkdn his conviction was overturned and he was
released from custodyThe wrong of detention without probable cause continues for the duration

of the detention. That the principal reason why the claim accrues when the detentiorf ends.
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Manuel II, 903 F.3d at 670Any attempt to bring his priial detention claim earlier suld have
been barred byHeck v. Humphrey512 U.S. 477 (1994)Barnhouse asserts that theincie
Defendantsargument is wrong that the claim accrued at the time of Barnkocseviction,
pointing toCamm v. Faith937 F.3d 1096, 1107 (7th Cir. 20{%Ve held inManuelthat a Fourth
Amendment claim for wrongful detention accrwdsen thedetention end$). And the Supreme
Court recently stated that the statute of limitations begins to run when the trmuoeeding
favorably terminatesvicDonough v. ®ith, 139 S. Ct. 2149, 2161 (2019).

Barnhouse asserts that his conviction was not invalidated within the meahiagkaintil
March 8, 2017, when it was vacated by the Delaware Circuit Court,igmdiminal proceeding
did not end in his favor until May 10, 2017, when prosecutors dropped all charges against him.
Thus, his claim did not accrue until March 8, 2017, at #nkest, so his claim was timely filed on
March 7, 2019.Barnhouse explains that he is not bringing a false arrest claim, as suggested by
the MuncieDefendants, and thus, the dates of his arrest and issuance of process or arrailgnment
irrelevant to hisclaim. Barnhouse further asserts that probable cause did not exist to support his
arrest when the false and fabricated evidence and the unduly suggkstiiifecation evidence is
put aside, which the Court must do at the motion to dismiss stage.

The Seenth Circuit recently held,

When a wrong is ongoing rather than discrete, the period of limitations does not

commence until the wrong ends. Notice that we speak of a contiwuamg, not

of continuingharnt once the wrong ends, the claim accrues even if that wrong has

caused a lingering injuryManuel shows that the wrong of detention without

probable cause continues for the length of the unjustified detention.
Manuel I, 903 F.3d at 66@nternal citations omitted)

The wrong of detention without probable cause continues for the duration
of the detention. That the principal reason why the claim accrues when the

detention ends. . . . A further consideration supports our conclusion that the end of
detention starts the period of limitations: a claamnot accrue until the woulzke
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plaintiff is entitled to sue, yet the existence of detention forbids a suit for damages
contesting that detentiavalidity.

Id. at 670. Section"1983 cannot be used to obtain damages for custody based on a criminal
conwvction—not until the conviction has been set aside by the judiciary or an executive pardon.
Id. "[The] detention was judicially authorized, which . . . means that a 81983 suit had to wait until
his releasé.ld.

The parties focused their arguments on Bauses pretrial detention, yet in the Amended
Complaint, Barnhouse bases his claim on"msarcerdion] prior to trial, and his incarceration

[that] continued until his eventual release 25 years.lafEiling No. 73 at 27 In any event, the

case law is clear that Barnholsselaim—liberty deprivation without probable causaccrued
when his detention ended. Thus, his claim was timebudint within the tweyear statute of
limitations.

At this stage of the litigation, the Court must takepleadinggo betrueand accept that
Barnhouse wasdeprived of liberty without probable cause because the evidence was fabricated
and thewitnessidentification was based upon improperly suggestive tac@ealified immunity
cannot protect th@olice officer defendants because case law gave them adequate notice that
deprivation of liberty without probable cause violated clearly established coosidtiuights. See
Gerstein v. Pugh420 U.S. 103 (1975).herefore, the Defendantdotion to Dismiss Count V of
the Amended Complaint genied

E. Count VIl : Failure to Intervene —Police Officer Defendants

The Amended Complaint alleges in Count VII thigd]uring the constitutional violations
described hereimpne or more of the Defendants stood by without interveningregent the

violation of Plaintiffs constitutional rights, evehough they had the opportunity to do'g&:ling
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No. 73 at 30 This resulted in Barnhouse sufferitigss of liberty, great emotional pain and
suffering, and other grievous and continuing injuriesdardages.id.

The MuncieDefendants argue that this claim should be dismissed bewalise officials
cannot be liable for another per&oonstitutional violations on a theory of failure to intervene if
the public official had no ability to compel the other person to not violate the plaintiff
constitutional rightsHoffman v. Knoebel894 F.3d 836, 8423 (7th Cir. 2018)They further
assert that police officecannot direct a prosecuting attorney to take or to refrain from taking any
action related tohie prosecution of a criminal defendant such as what evidermuegentand
which witnesses to callAdditionally, they argue,hie "Constitution does not impose a general
duty to expose wrongdoingld. at 843.

The MuncieDefendants also argue thtat the extenBarnhousealleges that Officers King,
Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins failed to intervene to pré&engeant8ailey and Winters
from allegedly fabricating evidence, the Amended Complaid¢wwidof allegatonsto plausibly
suggest the wasa realistic opportunity to intervene. The Amended Complaint doeallege
thatOfficers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blewvere present during the alleged fabrication
of the incriminating statementand thus, they could not have intervened.

The Muncie Defendants assert that qualified immunity applies to this claim because
qualified immunity protects them as to Counts II, IV, andBrafly claim, Julian claim, and
Manuelclaim), so it necessarily follows there is duty to intervene to prevent conduct that was
not clearly established as a constitutional violatiobme MuncieDefendants arguthe Supreme
Court has never endorsed a Section 1983 fatlhuietervene theory of liability for another public
official's canstitutional violations and ithas not held that circuit precedent can create clearly

established lawT'hey contend that it could not have been clearly established in 1992 that a public
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official violatesconstitutioral rightsby failing to prevent anothg@ublic official from violating the
Constitution.

In response, Barnhouse asserts that in order to state afolafailure to intervenea
plaintiff must allege that a constitutional violation occurred, the defendant knew dimout t
constitutional violation, and the defendant had a reasonable opportunity to pheveitiation
SeeGill v. City of Milwaukee850 F.3d 335 (7th Cir. 2017)heissue of vimether an officer had a
reasonable opportunity to intervene is usually a question fguitheSeeLanigan v. Vill. of E.
Hazel Crest, Ill. 110 F.3d 467 (7th Cir. 199arnhouse argues that wheplaintiff alleges he
was deprived of his libty as a result o& defendans fabrication of evidence, it is plausible to
infer that eaclidefendant was aware of the deprivation of liberty and could have done something
to stop it.

Barnhouse argues that he alleged in his Amended Complaint thablice qfficer
defendants did have the ability to intervene to prewenwrongful conviction, whichnvolved
numerous violations of his constitutional right to a fair tridle asserts thatng of thepolice
officer defendants could have intervened to stop the constitutional violations long before trial.
They could have intervened during the unduly suggestive and coercive tactics 'ef fRlde
identification ofBarnhouse or during the fabricated and false confessi@&amiousavhen he
was interrogated, told the prosecutor or defensanselbefore trial that Barnhousewas
incarcerated based on false evidence, or revealed the truth during the couate Batnhouse
contends that whether thelje officer defendants coulttave compelledhe prosecutoto drop
the chargess not materialthe failure to intervene claim does not depend snaessfutesult

from the defendant's intervention but rather on the defendant's effort to try to intervene.
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Barnhouse asserts that qualified immunity does not apply betteSeventh Circuit has
long recognized that police officers who have a realistic opportunitytéoveneand prevent a
fellow officer from violating a plaintifs rights but fail to do so may be held liabl®eeByrd v.
Brishke 466 F.2d 6, 11 (7th Cir. 1972).

The Court begins by reiterating that, althoutgtetailed factual allegatiohsare not
required, merélabels; "conclusions,"or "formulaic recitation[s] of the elements of a cause of
actiort’ are insufficient. Twombly 550 U.S. at 555. Andtiit is not enough to give a threadbare
recitation of the elements of a claim without factual supp8issessur581 F.3d at 603'Each
defendant is entitled to know what he or she did that is asserted to be wronghripkRiot baed
on a theory of collective responsibility must be dismissBdrik of Am.725 F.3cat 818.

Barnhouse failure to intervene claim is based entirely on this allegatidaring the
constitutional violations described heremme or more of the Defendants stood by without

intervening toprevent the violation of Plaintlff constitutional rights, evahough they had the

opportunity to do s6.(Filing No. 73 at 3Q This is a classic threadbare, formulaic recitation of

the elements of a claimBarnhouse has failed to plead sufficient factual support concerning the
claim and any of the Defendants to state a cldiherefore, Count VII of the Amended Complaint
must bedismissed and the Court concludes that it is premature to make any determination
regarding qualified immunity as to Count VII.

F. Count VIII: Municipal Liability — City of Muncie

The Defendants argue that Barnhouse has allejgereericMonell count"for municipal
liability under Section 1983, but he only has recited the element#/lohall claim without any
facts that could give rise to municipal liability or even an inference of municipditiiaso this

claim should be dismissed.
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The Defendants assert that it is well establishede is naespondeat superidrability
under Section 1983Monell v. Deft of Soc. Servs436 U.S. 658, 691 (1978). Thus, to allege a
Monell claim, a plaintiff must plead not only that his rights were violated &lsb that the
municipal defendant wasatimoving forcé behind hisconstitutional injuryld. at 691+95.The
"moving forcé requirements shown through (1) the existence of an express municipal policy that
caused the alleged constitutional violation, (2) the person who committed the constitut

violationwasa publicofficial with final policymaking authority, or (3) the existence of a pattern,

practice,or custom that was so widespread or persistent that it rises to the level of a rhunicipa

policy. Baxter v. Vigo County Sch. Coy6 F.3d 728, 735 (7th Cir. 1994). A plaintiff pursuing a
claim of municipal liability for a widespread practice must allegee than hi®swn constitutional
injury; "a series of violations must be presented to lay the premise for a widespre@ae plaich
underMonell.” Gill, 850 F.3dat 344 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Defendants submit that Barnhouse has fadeal¢gethat his constitutional injuries
were caused bwny express municipal policy or action of a final policymaking official. They
further contend that Barnhoubasfailed to allege any facts supporting a widespread practice that
could give rise to de factacity policy. Instead, Barnhouse simply has stated boilerplate recitations
of the elements of a cause of action.

Barnhouse respondsatMonellclaims are not held to a heightened pleading standard, and
the bar is not high for pleadingMonell claim. He asserts the Seventh Circuit has held that even
"a single paragraph of allegations withh number of conclusiohghat the Citys 'highest
policymaking officersengaged in avidespread custorof discrimination sufficed to state a claim

for muricipal liability." Sanders v. Sheeha®010 WL 2990121, at *4 (N.D. Ill. July 26, 2010)
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(quotingMcCormick v. City of Chicag@30 F.3d 319 (7th Cir. 2000)He argues thatboilerplate
allegations are sufficient to supportonell claim.

Barnhouse coenhdsthathis Amended Complaingleads in ample detail that the specific
policies and practices of the Muncie Police Department to pursue wrongful conwetions
fabricating evidence, withholding exculpatory evidence, and coercing witnessigst-caused
Bamhouses constitutional injuries and injuries to other individuaie argues the City of Muncie
has been adequately put on notice of the claim against it.

The Courtunderstands Barnhouseeliance on the Northern District of lllinbadecision
in Sanderdor the proposition that a single paragraph of allegations with a numbegaifor
factual conclusionsis sufficient to state a claim for municipal liabilitfdowever, theSeventh
Circuit more recently heleh 2017,

To succeed on thisle factocustom [or practice] theory, the plaintiff must

demonstrate that the practice is widespread and that the specific violations

complained of were not isolated incidents. At the pleading stage, then, a plaintiff
pursuing this thegrmust allege facts that permit the reasonable inference that the
practice is so widespread so as to constitute a governmental custom

Gill, 850 F.3d at 344 (internal citation omitted).

Upon review of the Amended Complaint, the Court concludesttisdacking the'single
paragraph of allegatiohshat was sufficient irfandersor the"allegations that come close to the
level of boilerplate vaguenésthat were sufficient irLaniganto support avionell municipal
liability claim. The Court is"not obligedto accept as true legal conclusions or unsupported
conclusions of fact.Hickey, 287 F.3d at 658. Mere labels, conclusions, or formulaic recitations

of the elements of a cause of action without factual support are insuffibiemmbly 550 U.S. at

555:; Bissessurs581 F.3d at 603.
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Instead of alleging some minimal factual allegations of municipal policy, widsspre
practice, or action by a policymaking official, Barnhouse has pled unsupported, conclusory
statements and recitations of the elementsMbaell claim. While Barnhouse is not required to
meet a heightened pleading standard or allege detailed factual allega¢ionast do more than
asserunsupportedgonclusory statements of fact concerning the elements bfdnsllclaim. As
currently pled, BarnhousaMonell claim must belismissed

G. Count IX: Claim Under the Rehabilitation Act —City of Muncie

The MuncieDefendants ssertthat Count IX of the Amended Complaint, requesting relief
under the Rehabilitation A¢tAct"), should be dismissed because the Act does not provide for
money damages based on vicarious liability. They argue,

In Gebser v. Lago Vista Independent Schootriais 524 U.S. 274, 288 (1998), the
Supreme Court held that Title IX does nallow recovery in damages where
liability rests solely on principles of vicarious liability or constructive ndtice.
Subsequently, courts have held that the same limitation applies to claims under the
Rehabilitation ActSee Liese v. Indian River County Hosp. Digd1 F.3d 334, 349

(11th Cir. 2012) '(Gebserprovides the correct standard [in a Rehabilitation Act
casel). This rule is consistent with Seventh Circuit precedent. The year before the
Supreme Court decide@ebser the Seventh Circuit refused to apply agency
principles in a Title IX case because that statute prohibits discrimination by
"programs or activities.Smith v. Metro. Sch. Dist128 F.3d 1014, 10228 (7th

Cir. 1997). The same logic applies here, because the Rehabilitation Act operates
similarly to Title 1X. See29 U.S.C. § 794 (providing that the Rehabilitation Act
applies to"programs or activitie€y. Thus, Plaintiff cannot recover based on a
vicarious liability theory, and, therefore, cannot state a claim for damagestagai
the City of Muncie, as the First Amended Complaint lacks any factual allegations
to suggest that the City of Muncie directigcriminated against Plaintiff upon the

sole basis of a disability. Therefore, this Court should dismiss Count IX of 8te Fir
Amended Complaint.

(Filing No. 79 at 249

Barnhouse argues in response thatCity of Muncie receives federal fundsd as such,
it is required to ensure that no individual faces discrimination on the basis of a ¢isaloiét any

program or activity it control8arnhouse asserts thais ispreciselywha happened thim as
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alleged in the Amended Complaint. Thaipe officer defendants¢reated him differently than they
would have another criminal suspect by taking advantage of his mental disabilities. They
fabricated a confession or coerced Barnhouse into falsely confessing knowing thalditbe
difficult or impossible for Barnhouse to defend himself given his limited mentaicitgpThe
"programs or activities of arrest, interrogation, and investigation were conducted in a
discriminatory manner, artie City of Muncie is therefore liable under the Antsupport of his
argument, Barnhouse points the CouritHenry v. City of Ottawa, Kansa®017 WL 4269903
(D. Kan. Sept. 26, 2017Wwhere the district court permittedRehabilitation Act clainagainst a
city by an individual with mental illnessho sufferedexcessive forcat the hands athe citys
policeofficers

Barnhouse argues that tiMuncie Defendantsare incorrect in theilasselibn that a
vicarious liability claim is not cognizable der the Act. Barnhous@oints outthe Supreme Court
has expressly left this question open in the context of the Americans with DiealAdi(the
"ADA"), theinterpretatiorof which often tracks with the Rehabilitation AcCity & Cty. of San
Francism, Calif. v. Sheeharl35 S. Ct. 1765, 17#34 (2015). "he Fourth, Seventh, Ninth, and
Eleventh Circuits have all agreed that when a plaintiff asserts a cause of actiost agai
employermunicipality, undeeitherthe ADA or the [Rehabilitation Act], the public entity is liable
for the vicarious acts @nyof its employees as specifically provided by the ADBelanoPyle
v. Victoria Co., Tex.302 F.3d 567, 545 (5th Cir. 200 see also Reed v. lllingi2016WL
2622312, at *3 (N.D. lll. May 9, 20)6He also points to the case Reed v. Columbia St. Masy'
Hosp, 782 F.3d 331, 337 (7th Cir. 2015), wherein the Seventh Circuit reversed the lowsr court
dismissal of a claim under the Rehabilitation Against a hospital for the acts of its employees.

The Seventh Circuit held that the claim was legally sufficient at the pleadings stage
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Barnhouse argues that the Court should reject Mumcie Defendantsinapposite
comparisons t@n outof-circuit casefor the proposition that th€ity of Muncie should not be
vicariously liable under the Acandthat the Act should be analogized to Title IX, despitgpoimt
authority in the Seventh Circuit that the Act is analogous to the Al®Aasserts thahé Court
shouldallow his claim under the Act to move forward to discovery.

At the motion to dismiss stage, the Court accepts as true all factual allegations in
Barnhouses Amended Complaint and draws all inferences in his f8ielanskj 550 F.3d at 633
The Caurt agrees with the district court from the Northern District of lllinois:

While [the Reed v. Columbia St. MasyHosjital] opinion does not expressly

address vicarious liability under Title Il or the Rehabilitation Act, its outcome

constrains this Court in findingas a matter of law at this junctur¢hat the State

Defendants cannot be held liable for damages under a vicarious liability theory.

Indeed, other courts in this district have appBéis reasoning to impose vicarious

liability over ADA and/or Rehabilitation Act claims falling outside of the

employment discrimination context.
Reed v. lllinois 2016 WL 2622312, at *4 (N.D. Ill. May 9, 2016)he Muncie Defendarits
argument for dismissal is based solely on the issue of vicariously liability. Comsiste the
outcome ofReed the Courtdeniesthe Muncie Defendant#lotion to Dismiss Count IX of the

Amended Complaint.

H. Count X: Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress —Police Officer Defendants

Count X of the Amended Complaint asserts a state law claim for intentional infli€tion o
emotional distress against the police officer defendantsMlimeie Defendants argue thag the
extent the clainis intended to be asserted againstbkce dficers in their individual capacities,
suchaclaimis barredby the Indiana Tort Claims ActndianaCode8 3413-3-5(b)provides that
a plaintiff cannot'sue a governmental employee personally ifdbeaplaint, on its face, alleges

that the employee's acts leading to the claim occurred within the scope of emploBushong
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v. Williamson 790 N.E.2d 467, 471 (Ind. 2003). A complaint that includes allegations of an
employees conductwithin the scope of employment that led to the cause of actian isnmediate
and early indication that the employee is not personally lialledt 472.

Barnhousalleges that the actions of the police offidefendants were undertaken within
the scope ofheiremployment. As suchthe Muncie Defendants arguhis claimis barred under
IndianaCode § 3413-3-5(b) and dismisal of the claim against the police officers in their
individual capacityis appropriate.

Furthermore, théluncie Defendants assert, other provisions of the Indiana Tort Claims
Act provide immunity to the police officer defendants against this clAigpvernmentemployee
acting within the scope of the employgeemployment is not liable if a loss results from . . . the
adoption and enforcement of . . . alaw . . . unless the act of enforcement constgatesésat or
false imprisonmerit.Ind. Code 8§ 34-13-3(8). While immunity will not apply to claims of false

arrest,"add onclaims such as negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress do not
survive simply because they are a product of improper cofidiRginer v. Dandurand33 F.
Supp. 3d 1018, 1032 (N.D. Ind. 2014Barnhouse alleges that the police offitardions were
taken within the scope of their employment, which places the claim within theadbedndiana
Tort Claims Act. The intentional infliction of emotional distress claim is"addon" claim that
is alleged to have been a product of improper conduct, shuheie Defendants argue, the claim
cannot survive.

Indiana Code § 343-3-3(6) provides that a governméeimployee acting within the scope
of the employe's employment is not liable if a loss results from the initiation of a judtial or

anadministrative proceedinigThus, thepolice officers are immuniom the emotional distres

claim arisingfrom the decision to file charges against and prosdgaitehouse. Additionallya
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governmenté&mployee acting within the scope of thepdmyees employment is not liable if a loss
results from. . . the act or omission of anyone other than the governmental entity or the
governmental entitg employeé. Ind. CodeS 3413-3-3(10). Thughepolice dficers are entitled

to immunity for any loss that resulted from the actions of anyone other thagotrernmental
entity," such asthe prosecut&s decision to file charge®arnhouse'retrial detention,his
convictions, and the confinement following conviction.

In responseBarnhouse acknowledges that, because of immunitgaheot maintain his
statelaw claims against thaolice officerspersonally.However, he assertihe statutorymmunity
does not bahis statelaw tort claims againghe City ofMuncie for the acts afs agents, theolice
officer defendantsSee Lessley ity of Madison 654 F. Supp. 2d 877, 902 (S.D. Ind. 2009)
("[p]laintiffs cannot sue [police officer] personally for state torts, but thay be able to hold the
[defendant municipality] liable for any state torts thhepolice officer] committet). Barnhouse
argues that histate law claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress, civil conspiracy,
andrespondeat supericaigainst the City of Muncie should not be dismissed.

IndianaCode 8 3413-3-5(b) provides the police officer defendants immunity against
personal liability for the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim, whictearigom the
officers conductundertaken within the scope tbieir employment. Furthermoré&dianaCode 8
34-13-33(8) providesimmunity against this claimSeeReiner 33 F. Supp. 3dt1032 ("add on"
claimsfor intentional infliction of emotional distregmnnot survive).While Barnhouse argues
that hisstate law clainfor intentional infliction of emotional distresgainst the City of Muncie
should not be dismissedhe Amended Complaint pleads this claim against"thdividual
Defendants—the police officer defendants and-defendanBobieralski—Aot against the City of

Muncie GeeFiling No. 73 at 33 Because of statutory immunity provided to the police officers,
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Count X of the Amended Complaint fortentional infliction of emotional distress dismissed
as to the police officer defendants.

l. Count XI: Malicious Prosecution—Police Officer Defendants

Count XI of the Amended Complaint asserts a state law claim for malicious prosecutio
against the police officer defendants. As with the previous clainiyitheie Defendants argue
that, b the extent the clains intended to be asserted againsipibiece dficers in their individual
capacitiestheclaimis barredy the Indiana Tort Claims Act.

The MuncieDefendants point out thalhe Indiana Tort Claims Achields government
employees fromtate law malicious prosecuti@taims as a governmetemployes acting within
the scope of the employseemployment is not liable if a loss results from te initiation of a
judicial or administrative proceedirigind. Code§ 3413-3-3(6); see also Julian732 F.3d at 846
(stating that Indiana law grants absolute immunity to police officers for madigbrosecution
claims) Because Barnhous#leges that all actions taken by the police officers were taken within
the scope of their employment, thieincie Defendargt assert, thesctions fall squarely within ¢
scope of the statutory immunity, atige malicious prosecution claisinould be dismissed.

In response, Barnhouse stateBlaintiff voluntarily dismisses his state law malicious

prosecution claimi. (Filing No. 81 at 42n.8.) Because of statutory immunity provided to the

police officers, and because Barnhouse agrees to dismiss this claim, Counh&lAshénded
Complaint for malicias prosecution idismissedas to the police officer defendants.

J. Count XlIl : Respondeat Superior — City of Muncie

Count XIlI of the Amended Complaint asserts a state law claimegpondeat superior
against the City of Muncie. ThHduncie Defendants argue,

Plaintiff's respondeat superioclaim fails as the Defendant Officers are immune
for any alleged violations of state laWlED and malicious prosecution. An
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employer will be liable for the acts of its employees that are committed within the
course and scopd their employmentSee Hensley’35 F.3d at 595. As discussed
above, the Defendant Officers are immune for the claims of IIED and malicious
prosecution. As such, the City cannot be held vicariously liable for the actions of
the Defendant Officers as thactions are shielded by immunity. Therefore, this
Court should dismiss Count XII of the First Amended Complaint.

(Filing No. 79 at 29

Barnhouse argues statutanymunity does not bdris statelaw tort claims against the City
of Muncie for the acts afs agentspointing toLessley654 F. Supp. 2dt902 ('[p]laintiffs cannot
sue [police officer] personally for state torts, but they may be able to hold the [defendant
municipality] liable for any state torts thah¢ police officer] committet). He also points to
Donald v. Outlaw2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 92959, at *9 (N.D. Ind. May 31, 2Q1&)ere the court
allowed state law claims goroceed on aespondeat superiatheory against theity defendant.
Barnhouse asserts that lsimte law claim forespondeat superioagainst the City of Muncie
should not be dismissed.

The Court concludes that thespondeat superiazlaim against the City of Muncie must
be dismissed because the underlying tort claims against Muncie's employees are inessgdlis
based on immunity. The Court recognizes that other district courts havét@emespondeat
superiorclaims to proceed. IBonald v. Outlawthe court dismissed the malicious prosecution
claim against both the city and the officers based on immunity, but the court allowed therbthe
claims to proceed only against the city because the officers had individual capemiiypity.
However, the court did not consider other statutory immunity provisions that could have precluded
the claim.Donald 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 92959, at *9. Likewise, lisssley the court allowed
tort clainms to proceed against the city defendant after concluding that individual capacitgiignm
prohibited the claims against the police officer, but the court did not consider ottu¢orgta

immunity provisionsLessley654 F. Supp. 2dt 902.
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In this casejmmunity is provided to the police officer defendants in their individual
capacity pursuant timdiana Codes 34-13-35(b), but complete immunity also is provided under
Indiana Code 88 3413-3-3(8) and 34-13-3({6). The Court determines that it must follow the
Seventh Circuit's approach froerina "As there are no underlying claims against [the police
officer defendantfemaining [plaintiff's] respondeat superior claims against the city fall away as
well." Serinov. Hensley 735 F.3d 588, 596 n.7 (7th Cir. 2013). Therefore, the Qparits the
Motion to Dismiss Barnhousa'sspondeat superiatrlaim against the City of Muncie.

K. Count XIII : Civil Conspiracy —Police Officer Defendants

Count XIII of the Amended Comaint asserts a state law claim for civil conspiracy against
the police officer defendants. As with the other state law tort claimbjuheie Defendants argue
that, b the extent the clains intended to be asserted againsipibiece dficers in their irdividual
capacitiestheclaim is barredy the Indiana Tort Claims Acand Barnhouse acknowledges that
hecannot maintainhis claim against thpolice officerspersonally.

The Defendants further argue,

When two or more persofiengage in aoncerted action to accomplish an unlawful
purpose or to accomplish some lawful purpose by unlawful nfeangivil
conspiracy is recognize®osenbaum v. Whjté92 F.3d 593, 606 (7th Cir. 2012).
However, in Indiana, a separate, independent cause of action for civil conspiracy
does not existld. Rather, a plaintiff may sue for damages resulting from the
conspiracy, which requires the plaintiff tdemonstrate that the defendants acted

in concert with another party in the commission of an independerititbrHere,
Plaintiff asserts that the Defendant Officers engaged in a civil conspireagntoit

the above alleged tortsllED and malicious prosecution. However, because the
Defendant Officers are immune for these torts and civil conspiracy is not
recognzed as an independent cause of action in Indiana, the Defendant Officers
cannot be said to have conspired to commit the torts and Count XIII of the First
Amended Complaint should be dismissed.

(Filing No. 79 at 2829.)
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As with his claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, Barnhouse coadadée
he "tcannot maintain his stataw claims against the individual Defendants personally. But this
immunity provision does not baildmtiff's statetort claims against Muncie for the acts of their

agents' (Filing No. 81 at 4])

Barnhouse pleaded his civil conspiracy claim against the "Individual Defendahts"
pdlice officer defendants and @efendant Sobieralskinot against the City of Muncieéeriling
No. 73 at 3% Furthermore, in light of the Seventh Circuit's holdindqRimsenbaunthat acivil
conspiracy claim is not an independent cause of action, and because the underlying torts in this
case are being dismissed based on immunity, the Court concludes that the civil cpmsgima
against the police officer defendants asserted in Céllintnust bedismissed

L. Count XIV : Indemnification Claim —City of Muncie

In Count X1V of the Amended Complaint, Barnhouse alleges,

182. Indiana law provides that public entities are directed to pay any tort judgment
or settlement focompensatory damagés which employees are liable within the
scope of theiemployment activities.

183. Defendants are or were employees of the City of Mundiee Indiana State
Police, who acted within the scope of themployment in committing the
misconduct described herein.

(Filing No. 73 at 37

TheMuncie Defendants argue this indemnification claim should be dismissed because the
Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction ovke claim. UndetndianaCode§ 3413-4-1, theCity
of Muncie has astatutory obligation to indemnify any judgment against plodice dficer
defendantsThe MuncieDefendants explain, where liability has not been established in the case
and a judgment has not been enteredjntiemnificationclaim is not ripe becausé rests upon

contingent future events that may not occur as anticipated, or indeed may not occutaivall
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v. Dominguez 2011 WL 294758, at *14 (N.D. Ind. Jan. 26, 2011). If a plaintiff brings an
indemnification claim before the underlying liability is resolved, courts have tentys
dismissed such claims without prejudice for lack of subject matter jurisdic8Bee. id.(where
liability was not yet establisheshdemnification clainwasdismisgdwithout prejudice) Smith v.
Lake County2017 WL 568590, at *9 (N.D. Ind. Feb. 13, 2015ar(¢; Hobson v. Dominguez
2012 WL 4361537, at *16 (N.D. Ind. Sept. 24, 20E2)n(8.

The Muncie Defendants note, "Rule 12(b)(@equires dismissal if the court lacks subject
matter jurisdictiorf. Estate of Eiteljorg v. Eiteljorg813 F. Supp. 2d 1069, 1073 (S.D. Ind. 2011).
When aclaim isnotripe, the district court ladsubject matter jurisdiction over the claiamd the
proper course is to dismiss the claiWisconsin Cent., Ltd. v. Shann&89 F.3d 751, 759 (7th
Cir. 2008) Med. Assurance Co. v. Hellma610 F.3d 371, 375 (7th Cir. 2010). Barnhouse's
indemnification claim against the City of Mundgebased orthe alleged nsconduct committed
by thepolice dficer defendants. iability has not been established at this stage and no judgment
has been entered that would give rise to an indemnification ctaipntheMuncie Defendants
argue,the claim is ot ripe, and tle Courtlacks subject matter jurisdiction ovére claim
Dismissal is appropriate.

Barnhouse responds that the Seventh Circuit has expressly held that a plaintiff may bring
an indemnification claim prior téinal judgment against the indemnitegeeWilson v. Ciy of
Chicagq 120 F.3d 681685 (7th Cir. 1997)lt is similar to seeking a declaratory judgment against
an insurer and promotes judicial economy. Barnhouse argues he may bring his indeomificati
claim at the outset dhe lawsuit, and tke claim mustthenbe resolved after liability has been
establi®ied

The Defendants reply by distinguishii§lson They assert,
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In Wilson the Seventh Circuit held that the plaintiff could assert his claim against
the City of Chicago because the City had denied any intention to indemnify its
officer if the plaintiff obtained a judgment against hMiilson 120 F.3d at 685.

The court did nohold, as Plaintiff suggests, that indemnification claims are always
ripe for adjudication from the outset of a lawsuit. Rather, once the City advised of
its refusal to pay any judgment that created a substantial controversy bdieeen t
plaintiff and the @y, and the claim ripened into a justiciable claim under Article
1.

(Filing No. 85 at 19

The Court finds théMuncie Defendants' argument to be wilken and agrees with the
analysis and conclusion &owel|] Smith andHobson The indemnification claim is not yet ripe
because liability has not been established, no judgment has been entered, and a settl@oent ha
been reached, and furthermore, there are no allegations that the City of Mun&isirsgy reo
indemnify the police officer defendants if they are found liable. Because theiglaot ripe, the
Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. Therefore, the GhsmissesCount XIV of the Amended
Complaint.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the C&IRANTS in part and DENIES in part the
Defendants' Partial Motion to Dismigsil{ng No. 7§. The Courtlismisses without prejudicé
Count | as to Officers King, Stewart, Watters, Todd, and Blevins. The @aunts the Motion
to Dismiss Count Il againgDfficer Stewart, Officer Watters, Officer Todd, Officer Blevins,
Sergeant Bailey, and Sergeant Winters, disinisses the claim withat prejudice, but the
Motion to Dismiss Count Il against Officer Kingdsnied Count IV isdismissed with prejudice

on the basis of qualified immunity. The Motion to Dismiss Count V of the Amended Gatnpla

L "[A] plaintiff whose original complaint has been dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) shouli/dre atleast one
opportunity to try to amend her complaint before the entire action is dismissedless] amendment would be futile
or otherwise unwarrantédrunnion v. Girl Scouts of Greater Chi. & Nw. Ind86 F.3d 510, 519, 520 (7th Cir. 2015).
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isdenied Count VII and Count VIII ardismissedwithout prejudice. The Motion to Dismiss
Count IX isdenied. Count X, Count XI, and Count XIII of the Amended Complainitksenissed
with prejudice as to Officer King, Officer Stewart, Officer Watters, Officer Todd, Officer
Blevins, Sergeant Bailey, and Sergeant Winters. Count XII against the City of Mancie i
dismissedwith prejudice. Lastly, the Courtismisseswithout prejudice? Count XIV of the
Amended Complaint. Barnhouse is granted leave Iditember 2, 2020to file a Second

Amended Complaint regarding the claims dismissed without prejudice, if such foulg wot be

futile. If nothing is filed by that date, this matter will proceed with the claim imCibi as well

as the claims that have survived the initial hurdle of a motion to dismiss.

SO ORDERED.

Date: 11/4/2020
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